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Foreword

Developments in the fresh produce market are in full swing, and
simply supplying fresh products is no longer enough. Now more
than ever there is a need for integrated supply chain management,
due primarily to customer demand for supply security and stricter
food safety, efficiency and sustainability requirements.

In response to these developments,
The Greenery is bringing growers and
retailers together. We are making
special investments in setting up
national and international fruit and
vegetable channels from our growers
and suppliers to consumers, while
aiming to fulfil the role of supply-chain
partner for our major customers in
the European retail sector.

Philip Smits (left)
General Manager, The Greenery B.V.
‘The Greenery brings growers
and retailers together.’

We are fully

confident

of our ability to
achieve sustainable

growth in

the near future

Theo Ammerlaan (right)
Chairman, Coöperatie Coforta
‘Growers and staff of the Greenery
work together on local production.’

In our quest to become the most
reliable supplier of vegetables and
fruit, in 2012 The Greenery continued
to invest in operational management
improvements. Various measures were
implemented as part of the ‘Smarter

and Better’ programme that relate
to more effective logistics, packaging
activities, distribution and supply chain
management. These measures will
increase the reliability of our operations
and make our management more
robust. The fact that The Greenery
succeeded in improving its organisation
in 2012 while also obtaining a positive
operating result is thanks to the efforts
of The Greenery staff, working in close
conjunction with the members of
Coöperatie Coforta.
This intensive collaboration has also led
to an increasing willingness among our
members to organise local production
in our biggest markets, either via Dutch
members with international offices or
through the adoption of new members
outside the Netherlands. This approach
enables The Greenery to take advantage of the growing preference for
local produce, and to supply goods
of consistent quality all year round.
In 2012, for example, The Greenery
commenced local production in France,
Belgium and Germany, and we intend
to continue expanding our international
sourcing activities in the years ahead.

International sourcing is one of the
objectives of The Greenery’s business
strategy, the focus areas of which also
include revenue growth and profitability, further streamlining of operations
management and intensive cooperation
with growers. The strategy also sets
out our sustainability objectives. The
Greenery is aware that organisations
can only be successful if they contribute
to a healthy and social living and
working environment.
We are fully confident of our ability
to achieve sustainable growth in the
near future, which will enable us to
take full advantage of the current
market conditions to benefit the
members of Coöperatie Coforta and
strengthen our position as a reliable
partner to our growers, suppliers,
customers and employees.
Philip Smits
General Manager, The Greenery B.V.
Theo Ammerlaan
Chairman, Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
Barendrecht, 6 March 2013
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Principal developments in 2012
Acquisition of PTLA mango
producer in Brazil

Introduction of new and
exclusive products and concepts,
including the Tasty Pep: a
miniature seedless bell pepper

Growth in international
sourcing: shares acquired
in NBG tomatoes (United
Kingdom)

Position
as retail
supply-chain
partner further
expanded

Supermarket
owners vote
Fred & Ed ‘Captain
of the Category’
for fresh produce

Growers’ and
trademark
rights
acquired
for Sweet
Sensation®

Optimised goods flow
results in fewer transports
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Company profile
The Greenery works every day with its growers, staff, customers and
suppliers to provide consumers all over the world with natural, healthy
and ultra-fresh vegetables, fruit and mushrooms.

Vision

Mission

Together with our employees,
growers and customers, The Greenery
is working to build a healthy business.
Collaboration is central to our approach,
as we believe that collaboration is one
of the keys to building a healthy
business. This health finds expression in
a range of aspects, from the industry in
which we operate and the products we
market, to food safety and the health
of our environment and our employees.
And let us not forget the financial
health of our operations.

The Greenery believes in creating
success for itself and its partners
through healthy ideas, expressed in
the motto ‘Success in Fresh Produce’.
These ideas are always based on an
understanding of consumer needs and
the supply chain, ensuring that our
organisation and our partners continue
to lead the industry.

A full
year-round

Producers’ organisation
The shares of the international
fresh-produce company The Greenery
are owned 100% by Coöperatie
Coforta, with 720 affiliated growers
in the Netherlands and abroad. The
association with these growers gives
the Cooperative considerable expertise
in the field of cultivation, products,
consumers and logistics.

assortment

of fruit, vegetables

and mushrooms
200

products

Sales in

60

countries

Purchasing in

60

countries

Over

Over

1 800
720

motivated employees
exclusive growers

Offices in

13

countries

Turnover approx. €

1, 4

billion
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Key figures

Consolidated
profit and loss account
2012

2011

		
Net turnover *

1,397

1,609

		
Gross contribution

197

199

		
Staff costs

96

97

Depreciation

23

22

Other operating costs
Other operating expenses

80

84

199

203

		
Operating result

(2)

(4)

		
Financial income and expenses

(6)

(6)

Tax on profit

(1)

3

Profit from participating interests

10

9

0

0

Minority shares in group profit

		
Net profit

1

2

14

25

Cash flows
Additions

9

15

24

(13)

Balance sheet total

493

496

Invested capital**

303

328

Disposals
Cash flow from operating and investment activities
Equity and financing

Capital base***
Capital base as a percentage of total assets
Interest-bearing debt

Consolidated

profit and
loss account

Members’ loans

201

207

40.8%

41.7%

144

169

75

82

1.821

1.507

Number of employees
Full-time equivalents (FTEs) as at 31 December
*

Decrease caused by departure of Coforta Verkoop B.V. growers effective 1 January 2012

** Fixed assets + net working capital
*** Equity + product funds, deferred taxation provisions, long-term members’ loans
and pension provisions
(amounts in millions of Euros)
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1. General Management Report
1.1 Strategic focus

Creating a healthy business through
highly effective collaboration is the goal
pursued by The Greenery. To ensure
success, the year under review focused
once again on providing added value
to customers and improving business
operations. In other words: operational
excellence.

STRATEGIC FOCUS 1:

ADDED VALUE
FOR THE MARKET
The Greenery provides added value
in the form of product knowledge,
logistics solutions, product development, food safety & sustainability, and
marketing. In 2012, clear progress was
made in the following areas:
Comprehensive
logistics services
In 2012, The Greenery provided full
logistics services for a large section
of the fruit and vegetable range of

one of its customers. These services
start with the grower, and continue
on through the customer’s distribution
centre and even on to the retailer.
The Greenery is now both fresh
produce supplier and logistics partner
for two major Dutch retail chains.
New exclusive products
and concepts introduced
The Greenery has made progress in
the field of innovation, and has also
introduced a number of new varieties
and concepts to the market. Read
more about innovation progress in
the section on sustainability.
Support for customers
in category management
and display techniques
Based on in-store consumer surveys,
The Greenery provides advice on the
arrangement of fresh produce
displays and product presentation.

STRATEGIC FOCUS 2:

TOTAL OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE
As part of the ‘Smarter & Better’
improvement programme, in 2012
The Greenery implemented a range of
measures for creating an even greater
focus on reliability and efficiency.
Three such measures in 2012 were:
Integration of
logistics activities
Following the closure of the Maasland
distribution centre in 2011, the site
in Venlo also closed in 2012. These
activities were moved to the distribution centres in Barendrecht and
Bleiswijk, enabling The Greenery to
realise further reductions in logistics
costs. Packaging activities for top
fruit were also relocated to regional
grower sites. The consolidation of
branches has reduced the total

Albert Knol CFO (left)
‘Integration of logistics activities has
further reduced costs.’

Philip Smits CEO (right)
‘On average, the prices paid to
growers for most products in 2012
were higher than in 2011.’

Added

value

operational

excellence
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1.2 FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DEVELOPMENTS

amount of space required, while
leaving volume capacities unchanged.
Implementation of new
automation system
2013 will see the next major step
in the implementation of the SAP
automation system, representing the
next stage in a process that started
three years ago that aims to use data
to improve the approach to efficiency
and costs. The preparations (including
data modification, testing and
training) have placed great demands
on employees’ time and energy, and
continue to do so.
Optimisation
of goods flow
In 2012, the number of direct
shipments from growers increased,
resulting in fewer transports to sites
of The Greenery. Improved scheduling also caused the number of
transports between sites to drop
by 38%. Having growers package
products correctly straight away
allowed The Greenery to realise
savings of €0.8 million in 2012.

It was a rough start to 2012 for Dutch growers, with the weather bringing a
sharp chill and little sun. This had a clear effect on harvest, pricing and results for
The Greenery. The Greenery has invested in strengthening its position through the
acquisition of a mango producer in Brazil and the rights to the Sweet Sensation pear
variety (among other things). Much attention has also been devoted to the continued
roll-out of the new automation system scheduled for implementation in 2013.
The integration of logistics activities has further reduced costs. Despite a number of
members leaving in late 2011, the net result ultimately came to €1.4 million. This is
lower than the 2011 results (€1.9 million). Turnover reached €1.4 billion in 2012,
Comprehensive strategy
In order to implement its strategy, The Greenery has
set up product units, sales units and a logistics unit.
The product-related market approach based on product
units, combined with the retail specialisations in the
sales units makes The Greenery unique in the sector.
Product range is ensured
by product units
Top Fruit
Soft Fruit
Field produce
Vegetable Fruits
Mushrooms
Imports

We serve the market
via sales units
Benelux
Germany & Northern Europe
Russia & Central Europe
Southern Europe
United Kingdom & Overseas
Discount

compared to €1.6 billion in 2011.

had a few teething problems at first,
Turnover has dropped due to the
resulting in temporarily higher costs.
departure of a group of vegetable fruit
Now the distribution centre is working
growers from the Cooperative late in
as planned. The integration of Jover
2011. As a result of this departure, the
activities into the Top Fruit Product Unit
Cooperative has adjusted membership
and Hoogsteder did not result in any
structures (see page 18). The recruitreduction in costs for 2012, but will
ment of new members partially
make a difference in 2013. Many
compensated for this loss. The turnover
employees (both temporary and
realised by Coforta Verkoop (the
permanent) have
business unit estabbeen involved in
lished for the members
The Greenery has
the implementation
who left) was relatively
invested in strengthening
of measures as part
small, improving the
its position
of the ‘Smarter &
group’s cost-turnover
Better’ programme aimed at making
ratio for 2012. On average, the prices
improvements to operational managepaid to growers for most products in
ment, such as the implementation of a
2012 were higher than in 2011. The
new working method and automation
integration of activities from the Venlo
system. Although staff numbers in the
and Maasland sites into the Bleiswijk
Netherlands dropped by 81, the
distribution centre contributed to a
acquisition of shares in NBG tomatoes
further drop in costs. This integration
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Partnerships with

several major
customers will

be expanded, including

logistics services

(formerly Baarda Ltd) and PTLA mango
producers ultimately raised staff numbers by 395, bringing the total to 1,821
in 2012 (compared to 1,507 in 2011).
Under miscellaneous operating costs,
a book profit of €1.1 million was made
on the sale of property in De Lier and
Bleiswijk.
Despite a clear drop in turnover, a
slightly improved cost-revenue ratio
and reduced operating costs, the
operating result ultimately amounted
to a small loss of €1.7 million – a
modest improvement on 2011 when
the operating result was negative
€4 million.

Investments and disposals
In 2012, new investments in growers’
businesses were both made and sold
off, resulting in associated member
loans totalling €0.1 million.
The Greenery has sold property from
the road infrastructure at the former
De Lier site, and part of the Bleiswijk
site has been sold to the lessee. The
revaluation of property in 2012 resulted
in minor adjustments to the value of
The Greenery’s real estate.

In early 2012 the shares of Goeie Peer
B.V. were sold, providing resources for
the purchase of the rights to the Sweet
Sensation variety (among other things).
As a result of this investment, an
earn-out scheme that is fully dependThe balance of income and expenses
ent on the results has been agreed
(mainly concerning interest charges)
with the former owner. In England, the
dropped further in 2012 and reached
shares of tomato producer North Bank
€6.3 million (compared to €6.5 million
Growers (NBG, formerly Baarda Ltd)
in 2011), primarily due to the influence
were acquired, and
of lower interest
in Brazil those of
rates. The Greenery’s
2013 will see further
Produce and Trading
minority interests,
attention devoted to the
Latin America (PTLA)
the Hessing cutting
continued implementation of
mango producers.
workshop and the
the new automation system.
As a result of these
Euro Pool System
transactions, The Greenery’s immaterial
packaging company performed well
assets, goodwill and intellectual
in 2012. The Inova Fruit B.V. minority
property rose from €16.7 million
interest suffered a loss. Participating
in 2011 to €26.1 million in 2012.
interests therefore resulted in €9.4
million in 2011 to €9.9 million in 2012.

The remaining company investments related primarily to replacement and maintenance investments, as well as the activation of SAP implementation costs. Total
consolidated fixed assets rose from €321 million in 2011 to €338 million in 2012.
Financing
As in 2011, the Greenery’s equity remained at €88 million in 2012. A major change
in equity was due mainly to adjustments made to the method of processing pension
liabilities. The implementation of Directive 271.3 reversed the formation of the
provision that was made in 2006 that affected equity, a change which has been
reflected in the comparative figures. Equity was barely affected by property
revaluations. The balance of the mandatory member loans dropped by around
€4.7 million, due to the 2012 addition that was smaller than the release of member
loans. The member loans constitute an important element of The Greenery’s
capital base, which dropped by an absolute value of €5 million compared to 2011,
reaching €201 million. At €493 million, the balance sheet total was €3 million less
than in 2011, with the above alterations causing the capital base percentage to
drop slightly to 41%.
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Risks
Coöperatie Coforta’s policy is to limit
risks to an acceptable level where
possible, including the management
of credit, liquidity and cash flow risks.
Much of the credit risk is insured with
a credit insurer. Foreign exchange
positions are largely covered by
forward exchange transactions. Some
foreign exchange positions are also
hedged using option contracts. Interestrate derivatives are used to hedge
interest risks.
Depository Receipts
In November 2011, a bid of €30 per
receipt was made on all 70,973
outstanding depository receipts for
shares in The Greenery’s capital among
1,106 members and ex-members. For
more information on the depository
receipts, please see the section on
Corporate Governance. This bid ran
until 15 April 2012. On 15 April, 13,601
receipts had been offered and purchased; at year-end 2011, 16,078
receipts had been offered. Current
facilities were used to finance the
purchase. 169,282 depository receipts
were purchased at €30 per receipt as
part of an earlier purchasing effort in
2008. There are currently still 44,905
receipts in circulation.

Outlook
Coöperatie Coforta expects supply
volumes to grow once again in 2013,
with the arrival of more new members
and expansion among existing members. On balance, the group’s turnover
is expected to rise as a result. Partnerships with several major customers
will be expanded, including logistics
services. The closure of locations and
continued efficiency measures will
cause employment levels to drop
slightly. In 2013, significant amounts
of time and money will once again be
invested in the continued roll-out of the
new automation system. Based on the
above, we expect a slight increase in
profitability. Limited investments will be
made in 2013, especially in the field of
logistics, and will be financed primarily
using our own cash flow.

1.3	DEVELOPMENTS IN PRODUCT UNITS

As a market-based organisation, The Greenery operates with six product
units, each with product specialists who work closely with the members
of the Cooperative and regular international suppliers. Together they work
towards getting fresh products that satisfy the needs of consumers onto
store shelves via the shortest route and at competitive prices.

A number of developments were
common to all product units in 2012:
Internationalisation of
production: Initiatives by affiliated
growers and setting up partnerships
with growers abroad have enabled
The Greenery to take advantage of
the demand among customers and
consumers for goods that are locally
produced, strengthening not only the
position of international retailers, but
also that of Coöperatie Coforta’s
members.

Direct links between growers
and customers: Direct links
between growers and customers have
made it possible for growers to prepare
products according to customer needs
straight away. This made the chain as
short as possible, keeping produce fresh.
Sharing market information
with members: In 2012 The
Greenery made growers a partner in
market developments. This is in line
with The Greenery’s approach to
increase Coöperatie Coforta members’
active involvement in the fruit and

vegetable sector. For example, for
some years now the product units have
been taking groups of growers to visit
supermarkets in the Netherlands and
abroad, in countries such as England,
Germany, Italy, Russia and in Scandinavia.
Variety programmes: Members
and regular suppliers produce
exclusive varieties for specific customer
groups. In addition to cultivation
techniques, other important criteria
in the development of new varieties
include flavour, quality, consumption
times and shelf life.

Short lead times
Jan Meuzelaar’s iceberg lettuce is grown for a specific retail
customer: ‘Iceberg lettuce is extremely sensitive to the
weather. If there is a damp spell coming and my product
will be a little weaker, I notify people immediately. With help
from the Greenery, we adapt to changes in product quality,
such as by scheduling additional deliveries to keep stocks to
a minimum. I am now more in touch with what happens to
my lettuce further down the line.’
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Getting together

VEGETABLE FRUITS
The total acreage devoted to vegetable
fruits within the Vegetable Fruits
Product Unit at The Greenery grew
in 2012 by a total of 71 hectares of
tomatoes and cucumbers (54 hectares
in the Netherlands and 17 hectares in
the United Kingdom). This expansion
was in line with the set targets.
Although Dutch vegetable fruit
exports continued to decline in 2012,
The Greenery formed a happy exception with its exports increasing by two
per cent. This growth was thanks to an
increase in tomatoes going to Germany.
The Greenery has fortified its position
in the English market by supplying
more locally-grown produce with
two members of Coöperatie Coforta.
Exports to southern Europe and France
were particularly noteworthy. After a
disappointing spring in these regions,
the demand for vegetable fruits grew
sharply in summer thanks to the
extremely warm weather.

In 2012, the Vegetable Fruit Product
Unit had three focus areas. With the
first of these (investing in new concepts
and product innovations), The Greenery
enjoyed several successes in 2012. The
unit presented three new products
during Fruit Logistica in Berlin: the Tasty
Pep, the Red Egg and the Angello
Sweet & Seedless Pepper.
Positive results were also achieved
with the second focus area (reducing
supply-chain costs). Having growers
package more products and ship them
directly from their own locations further
reduced logistics costs for the product
unit and limited the number of ‘empty’
kilometres. The third focus area, sharing
market information with members, is
an ongoing process.
Focus areas for 2013: In 2013, the
Vegetable Fruits Product Unit intends
to effect an expansion in acreage,
stabilise customer relationships and
continue to reduce supply chain costs.

Tomato grower Wilfred van Winden: ‘In our
company, we aim for maximum production
and the highest possible quality. By getting
together with salespeople from The Greenery, we know which direction our customers
are heading in. It provides some extra
motivation for you to give it all you’ve got.’

FIELD PRODUCE
One of the main aims of the Field
Produce Product Unit was to continue
generating more export opportunities
for its products. The most significant
growth in field produce sales realised
by The Greenery was in the United
Kingdom, which battled with failing
crops in 2012. Sales to Germany and
Scandinavia have also increased,
especially in leek, broccoli, iceberg
lettuce and conical cabbage.

Getting a taste for testing fields
Leon Duijvestijn, salad crop grower: ‘The
testing field is intended to trial the cultivation of new field-produce varieties in practice.
All of the current crops have distinctive
flavours. That’s how we can stand out.
We’re focusing on a new facet of cultivation,
and getting a taste for it.’

Import activities were successfully
integrated into the Field Produce
Product Unit in 2012. The combination
of imported and Dutch field produce
allowed The Greenery to offer the
perfect range of quality and taste, as
well as decide for itself when to switch
to a different product origin.
In 2012 the Field Produce Product Unit
continued work on its variety programme, in conjunction with growers
and seed companies. In the testing

field for leaf vegetables, the focus
shifted from increasing production to
taste and health aspects. A range of
conical cabbage, carrot, butterhead
lettuce and iceberg lettuce varieties
have been selected for their distinctive
flavours.

Focus areas for 2013: In 2013, the
Field Produce Product Unit intends to
further develop its variety programme
for field produce, as well as work
closely with growers to boost sales
and local production abroad.

SOFT FRUIT

Open to new varieties
Ad Slabbekoorn of the growers’ association
Cherry Queens: ‘Through joining forces in
the sorting process, exchanging cultivation
know-how and maintaining good customer
contacts with The Greenery, we have
ensured that cherries enjoy a prominent
position at Dutch retailers.’

Local cooperation in our core markets is
one of the main focus areas in the Field
Produce Product Unit. In close cooperation with our growers, the product unit
commenced production of field produce
abroad in 2012, including the production of iceberg lettuce in France.

Soft fruit volumes increased at
The Greenery in 2012. Due partly to
growth among existing members, this
was also thanks to the addition of new
members from the Netherlands,
Belgium and Germany. Average production in the Netherlands was somewhat
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Packaging for

top fruit
has moved to

regional packing stations

in the Netherlands

Wimco van de Water, Sweet Sensation
grower: ‘The work of The Greenery’s agronomist is very important to the high-quality
cultivation of the Sweet Sensation pear. He
helps us to improve cultivation results, and to
achieve uniform quality among our produce.’

higher than in 2011, with cherries
forming the only exception due to frost
damage. Due to economic conditions,
raspberry and asparagus consumption
(which are also part of this product
unit) were a little lower than in
previous years.
By integrating sales activities for Dutch
and imported products, The Greenery
ensured a smooth transition from the
Dutch season to the import season.

Focus areas for 2013: The Soft Fruit
Product Unit aims to intensify international cooperation with growers in
2013, as well as introduce more
exclusive varieties. The product unit
also wishes to further reduce supply
chain costs, and streamline services
to both growers and customers.

TOP FRUIT

The Greenery can now supply red
currants, blueberries, blackberries,
raspberries and strawberries throughout the year.

The 2012 financial year began with low
prices for top fruit. The effects of frost
and little sun during the bloom of the
European fruit trees drastically reduced
the 2012 harvest, allowing the higher
prices to be maintained and the lower
volumes to be compensated for the
most part by better prices.

The product unit further expanded
its variety programme in 2012, and
The Greenery successfully boosted
sales of the new Grandeur raspberry
variety and the new strawberry
varieties by Plant Sciences in
California.

The Dutch top fruit sector is in possession of a number of strong brands,
including Junami® apples and the Sweet
Sensation pear, to which The Greenery
acquired breeders’ and trademark
rights in 2012. The company also took
over the global licensing rights for the

UTA pear variety, under the brand name
Dazzling Gold®. In addition to coordinating sales, The Greenery is now also fully
responsible for the roll-out of production, the cultivation concept and market
introduction for both varieties.
The packaging activities in Breda were
phased out in 2012 and relocated to
regional packing stations in the various
growing regions in the Netherlands.
Top fruit is now shipped directly from
regional packing stations. By integrating
the commercial teams of subsidiary
Jover B.V. and the Top Fruit Product Unit,
The Greenery has shortened internal
channels and increased its commercial
leverage in the top fruit segment.
Focus areas for 2013: In 2013, the Top
Fruit Product Unit will aim to streamline
goods flow management, broaden the
scope of its sales prospects and work
on intensifying knowledge exchange
with its growers.
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Chestnut mushrooms for the barbecue
Sanne van der Smissen, Account Manager
at The Greenery: ‘To introduce consumers to
the versatility of mushrooms in a new way,
The Greenery introduced a special barbecue
concept: chestnut mushrooms for the barbecue
or grill. We anticipate that this promotion will
give mushroom sales a boost in the summer.’

Focus areas for 2013: In 2013, the
Mushrooms Product Unit will work
to increase its commercial leverage,
promote growth in international sales,
and secure its position in the Dutch
market.

IMPORTED PRODUCTS

MUSHROOMS
In general, sales prices for the mushroom unit developed more favourably
in 2012 than in 2011. Consumption
in the Netherlands and the United
Kingdom (The Greenery’s two biggest
markets) remained at a higher level
during the summer. Grower prices
continued to rise, however, dampening
the positive sales effect.
The Mushrooms Product Unit had
four focus areas in 2012. In the first
area (expansion of the international
customer base), the product unit took
steps to generate more international
sales, investigating opportunities for
local production in Germany and in
the United Kingdom.

The second focus area concerned
optimisation of logistics channels. The
service level at the Zaltbommel mushroom site is above 99 per cent, and the
improvements to efficiency put in place
by the Mushrooms Product Unit in 2012
considerably reduced logistics expenditure. As planned, packaging flows were
streamlined and stock management
was significantly improved.
In conjunction with a major Dutch
retailer, The Greenery introduced a
barbecue concept that proved very
popular, answering to the third focus
area: investing in concept development.
Sustainability became a more prominent issue among both customers and

growers in 2012, in particular the topic
of sustainable employment conditions.
In response to this fourth focus area,
The Greenery advocated the introduction of the international GRASP system
in 2012, which could be applied to
multiple fresh produce categories.
In conjunction with growers, the
Mushrooms Product Unit also investigated a range of more efficient mushroom packaging options in 2012.

In addition to the range supplied
by Coöperatie Coforta members,
The Greenery offers its customers a
wide variety of imported products.
The key markets for imported produce
are the Netherlands, Germany, the
United Kingdom, Poland and Russia.
Sales of grapes, kiwi fruit, melons
and oranges were particularly high.
The Greenery sells special and exotic
fruit and vegetable varieties under the
‘Solentes’ brand, a niche market that
exhibited some growth in 2012.
One main focus area concerned working on long-term relationships with

reliable and dedicated suppliers, with a
view to taking full advantage of market
demand. Another focus area looked at
further increasing sustainability in the
supply chain by making goods flows
as efficiently as possible and giving
due attention to food safety and social
sustainability.
The Greenery signed the Sustainable
Business Initiative (Initiatief Duurzame
Handel, IDH) in 2012. Dutch supermarkets and trading companies have
expressed their intention to ensure that
all fruits and vegetables from Central/
South America, Africa and Asia are
sourced in a fully sustainable manner
by 2020.
Focus areas for 2013: Raise volumes
of ready-to-eat mangoes and exotic
produce, as well as continued improvements to efficiency in logistics processes.

Top-quality mangoes
Fernando Moraes is the General Manager at PTLA
in Brazil, a company owned by The Greenery. The
company specialises principally in the production and
sale of mangoes. ‘I am proud of the staff that carefully
grow, sort and package the produce. In close collaboration with The Greenery staff, we strive to deliver
top-quality products day in, day out.’

13

1.4	DEVELOPMENTS IN SALES UNITS

The Greenery’s sales strategy is to increase turnover in its key
markets among major retail customers to at least match market
growth. Sales teams operate in the key markets, with a thorough
knowledge of the relevant markets and products.

Nico Duivestijn, tomato grower
‘To me, the tomato segmentation at the German retailers
translates mostly into a greater focus on the Coeur de
Boeuf. We have deployed our contacts in Germany very
efficiently. To me, it’s an example of how The Greenery
is changing to meet the demands of the future.’

Coeur de Boeuf

earns
permanent

place on German

shelves

and vegetables 94 times per year. In
Belgium, consumption of fruit dropped
by 5%, and vegetable sales stabilised.
Because its role has changed from that
of supplier to supply chain partner,
The Greenery has realised a significant
increase in turnover from its Benelux
customers (in the Netherlands in
particular). As the ‘supply chain manager’, The Greenery
relieves retail
Benelux
The Greenery adapts to
customers of
Fruit and vegetable
changing market demands
several responsibilisales in Dutch superand monitors consumer
ties. The Greenery
markets showed
behaviour using shopper
is responsible for
modest growth, as
and consumer surveys.
the logistics of the
part of which sales of
customer’s entire fruit and vegetable
sliced fruit and vegetables and readyrange, from the grower to the distributo-eat products decreased. According to
tion centre. Close collaboration and a
consumer research organisation GfK, on
willingness to share knowledge make
average Dutch households purchased
for optimum efficiency in the chain,
205 kg of fresh fruit and vegetables in
and therefore a fresher product in
2012, compared to 207 kg in 2011. The
stores. The Greenery has maintained
average household purchases fresh fruit
its position in the Belgian retail sector.
The margins in Belgium are under
major pressure due to competition
among retailers, resulting in a very
strict purchasing strategy. Dutch
supermarket chains are starting many
The concentration of supermarket
chains is continuing, producing an
increase that is augmenting the need
for supply chain partners who can
provide security and take over responsibilities. Increased attention to health
and a critical attitude among consumers when it comes to food origins are
also having an effect.

online sales initiatives. The Greenery is
adapting to changing market demands,
and monitors consumer behaviour
using shopper and consumer surveys.
Focus areas for 2013: The continued
expansion of our position as a retail
supply-chain partner, focusing on:
continued development of logistics and
supply-chain management; support for
category management and, in cooperation with growers, continuing to work
on quality improvements and new
marketing concepts.

GERMANY & NORTHERN EUROPE
In Germany, more and more consumers
are giving preference to locally-grown
produce, where the cultivation of
vegetable fruits in particular has
expanded greatly and become more
modernised in recent years. These
developments, in combination with the
stagnating consumption of vegetables
and fruit, have put pressure on Dutch
exports to Germany.
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The Greenery

has succeeded in

increasing
its market share in
France, Italy and Spain

Making life easier
Christ Spierings, Account Manager (right) at The Greenery: ‘As manager of the
supply chain, The Greenery makes life easier for customers who are now free
to focus more on the retail floor. We ultimately work together on an optimised
chain that can provide consumers with fresh, quality products every day.’

In 2012, The Greenery successfully
expanded its range among a number
of retail customers. For example, The
Greenery supported its customers in
the introduction of a number of new
products including the Red Egg tomato
concept, as well as the Intense Tomato.
The support focus also included the
areas of category management and
display techniques. The Greenery made
a major contribution to a new shelf
concept for tomatoes for one of its
retail customers, where the different
tomato types are arranged according
to their various uses.

In this way, the supermarket chain
introduced greater clarity for consumers
in the wide range of tomatoes. The
snack-vegetable concept was launched
at German discounters in 2012. German
consumers are extremely environmentally-conscious, and food safety is an
important social issue. In line with
these trends, sales of organic products
have risen considerably in recent years,
as has awareness that food wastage
must be avoided.
In northern Europe, consumption of
vegetables and fruit is relatively low.

Of all northern-European countries, the
highest consumption per capita is in
Norway. We expect purchasing power
to grow in the Baltic states over the
years ahead. In Scandinavia, interest in
locally-grown produce is high. Consumers demonstrate a high degree of price
awareness, and look for sustainability.
The Greenery’s 2012 revenue in
northern Europe was lower than in
2011, due primarily to changes in the
purchasing strategy of a number of
retailers, which highlight the increase in
produce imported from Spain.
In 2012, The Greenery successfully
introduced the Red Egg tomato concept
into the product range of a number of
customers. There is clear interest in
exclusive products by The Greenery. As
soon as new varieties are available in
sufficient quantities, there will be
opportunities to further expand the
range of niche products in northern
Europe over the years to come.

Focus areas for 2013: The continued
improvement of logistics performance,
support through category management, range expansion across product
groups and the inclusion of new and
local products in the product range.

SOUTHERN EUROPE

2011. This growth was realised among
large chain retailers and industrial
customers. More and more, Spanish
and Italian retail chains are purchasing
directly from grower organisations such
as The Greenery, in areas where
purchasing was once conducted
through wholesalers.

Pressure from the current economic
situation in southern Europe has
meant that food consumption (including fruit and vegetables) is decreasing.
Despite these difficult circumstances,
The Greenery has succeeded in increasing its market share in France, Italy and
Spain. In France, the Greenery achieved
a 20% growth in volume, whereas total
Dutch exports were 6% below those of

The extreme warm weather in southern Europe meant that local production
in Spain and Italy was insufficient, and
was the reason why Dutch exports to
these countries increased halfway
through the year. Sales of field produce
showed the greatest increase. In
southern Europe too, The Greenery has
noted rising consumer preference for

Local production in France
The initial crop of iceberg lettuce in Verdun
sur Garonne, around 50 km north of
Toulouse, was an education for Greenery
growers Ursum-Zuurbier en Pater Broersen.
Dave Smit: ‘I estimate that we need around
three years to get the cost price down to
a level that will put us in the black. We are
heading into the second season with the
fullest confidence.’
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Prestigious sector award in North America
sustainable products of local origin.
Responding to this trend, for some
years The Greenery has been seeking
out opportunities to cooperate with
local producers or to start local production itself. In 2012, The Greenery
entered into small-scale partnerships
with a number of Italian producers for
the cultivation of field produce and top
fruit, with the intention of expanding
these activities. In conjunction with its
own members, The Greenery has also
set up a pilot for the local production
of iceberg lettuce in southern France,
allowing the season for our own
Dutch products to be extended.
Focus areas for 2013: Further growth
among large retail chains and industry,
and growth in local production within a
range of product groups; enhancing
commercial leverage through the
planned integration of Hoogsteder in
the southern-Europe sales unit.

UNITED KINGDOM
& OVERSEAS

In 2012 The Greenery won the PMA
Impact Award for its Tommies snack
tomatoes, in the ‘Excellence in
Packaging’ category. Greenery grower
Jos van Mil (right): ‘I am exceedingly
proud of this award. It will make a
significant contribution to the positioning of Tommies snack tomatoes in
North America.’

DSales in the United Kingdom were
slightly higher than in 2011. The range
of products sold to customers was
successfully expanded in 2012 to
include soft fruit, field produce and
exotics. The company’s share in
vegetable fruits also increased as The
Greenery has a significant share in the
UK production of vegetable fruits. Local
producers Cornerways Nursery and
North Bank Growers (NGB, formerly
John Baarda Ltd) are both members of
Coforta.
In North America, The Greenery has
shifted its focus in the past two years
from supplying wholesalers to supplying retailers directly. Sales to retailers
have grown, particularly of products
from Mexico and Canada, supplemented with Dutch produce. The Greenery
has a strong position in the vegetable

fruits market, and sees opportunities
to expand the product range among
customers in the future. The full range
of tomatoes was introduced for the
first time in 2012, including the exclusive premium tomato varieties such
as snack tomatoes. Greenery grower
GreenCo started to cultivate Tommies
snack tomatoes in Mexico in 2012.
Since then, snack tomatoes have been
available to the North American market
year-round.
Japanese demand for imported products increased strongly due to the drop
in local production as the result of
weather conditions. Trends in purchas-

ing power in Asia are leading to
increased consumption of fresh fruit
and vegetables, to which The Greenery
responded effectively with the launch
of its snack range (including snack
tomatoes).

Focus areas for 2013: In order to
retain and further enhance its position,
in 2013 The Greenery will focus on
further improving logistics and service,
and expanding the product range
among existing customers.

Sales in the Middle East rose due to
increased consumption, and as the
result of the further expansion of the
existing customer network. Sales to
China remained limited in 2012 due to
persistent phytosanitary barriers. These
barriers do not apply to Hong Kong,
however, where in 2012 exports
remained at excellent levels due to
strong economic growth in the region.

RUSSIA AND CENTRAL EUROPE
After the Russian market had been
closed to imports from the Netherlands
for a considerable time in 2011 as a
result of the EHEC crisis, sales to Russia
recovered in 2012. Nevertheless, Dutch
exports to Central Europe and Russia
are under increased pressure as
countries such as Poland, the Ukraine
and Romania are becoming more
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Field growers on a study trip to Moscow
Eight Greenery growers of
special field produce and leaf
vegetables embarked on a
study visit to Russia in 2012.
Salad crop grower Huig Kooijman: ‘Our Fresh Fantasy brand
is very popular in Russia. There
it’s a real class-A brand, due in
part to the strict requirements
that The Greenery sets for
quality, shelf life and residue
control.’

self-sufficient. This year, The Greenery
was able to strengthen its position in
Russia by directly supplying the biggest
Russian retailers. The sales unit further
expanded its customer portfolio, is in
close contact with retail customers, has
optimised the product range among
customers and has improved its service
levels. The strategy pursued has
increased sales in Russia by more
than half compared to 2011.

Over the next few years, The Greenery
aims to further expand its presence in
Russia and Central Europe by entering
into local partnerships.
Focus areas for 2013: Further optimisation of goods flows, intensifying
cooperation with local retail customers,
continued growth in Russia and conducting a market analysis for Eastern
Europe.

1.5	OUTLOOK 2013

The management and the board do not anticipate any major changes to
market conditions in 2013. International retailers will maintain their dominant position in the market, and the pressure on Dutch fruit and vegetable
exports will increase due to growth in local production in our export countries and the increasing overlap of international growing seasons.

The response from the industry is
twofold, with a focus on top-quality
products and on the added value
provided by both the products and the
business. The Greenery included these
objectives in its strategy several years
ago, and they will remain important
areas of focus in the years ahead.
Continued attention to the best quality
and the development of innovative
products will help The Greenery to
increase its turnover and improve its
profitability. Along with our members,
we will maintain our level of focus both
on innovations and on growing the
right products in the right places. Our
members are growing their produce
more and more according to demand,
and are setting up cultivation projects
in international local markets.

Although growth under current market
conditions will not be easy, The Greenery
will continue to work on strengthening
its position through the years ahead,
as it has done in the past. We expect
to be able to increase volumes by ten
per cent within the next five years
using only our own resources.
We will also maintain our focus on
perfecting goods flows over the next
few years. A reliable logistics organisation combined with efficient processes
will aid us in strengthening not only our
partnerships with national and international retailers, but also the position of
Coöperatie Coforta’s members. A reliable
and adaptable goods flow is essential
in order to tailor the delivery of our
members’ products via short supply
chains to our customers. We see the
full-scale implementation of SAP in

2013 as a major step forward. Sustainable cultivation and employment are
receiving more and more attention at
The Greenery. We take our responsibility to work with our suppliers, customers and employees to provide healthy
and delicious products for a healthy
society very seriously. Sustainability is
an integral part of our business operations. As a response to the sustainability issues that will be important in ten
years’ time, we reviewed our sustainability policy in 2012 to include targets
for 2020. Intensification of stakeholder
dialogues will form an important part of
this process, allowing The Greenery to
maintain a clear idea of current sustainability issues and future developments
and provide a pro-active response.
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2. Report by the Management
Board of Coöperatie Coforta
Together with its members, Coöperatie Coforta altered the Cooperative’s
structure and working method in 2012 in response to changing market conditions and developments among the members. An improvement proposal
was drawn up based on an extensive evaluation of the existing structure and
working method, and a survey of the wishes of its members. Late in 2012,
this proposal was approved by the Members’ Council of the Cooperative.

The Management Board of Coöperatie
Coforta U.A. (from left to right):
Th.L.J. Ammerlaan (Chairman),
T.W. van Noord, B.J. Feijtel,
P.S.C. Oostveen, P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk
(Vice-chairman) and A.W.G.M. Hop

Various member

activities are

organised
to promote

member

involvement

The most important change implemented by Coöperatie Coforta in 2012
was the removal of the regional
departments, which have been replaced by an annual members’ meeting. The national Members’ Council,
with its 28 representatives, remained
unaltered. The Members’ Council will
continue to reflect the balance of the
Cooperative members according to
region, product and age, and will meet
six times per year. The absence of the
departments means that from now on
the representatives will be appointed
at the annual members’ meeting.
These decisions have resulted in a
flatter organisational structure with
fewer levels of management, making
it more efficient and less expensive.
One other significant change was the
establishment of a cooperation model
with only one type of supplier/member. It is no longer possible to sell
through Coforta Verkoop B.V. The
decisions by the Members’ Council
were adopted on 11 December 2012,
and implemented within Coöperatie
Coforta on 1 January 2013.

MEMBER-BASE DEVELOPMENTS
In 2012 the Cooperative’s member
turnover decreased slightly, as did the
number of members. Average acreage
per member increased. On 31 December 2012, 1,175 natural persons and
legal entities were members of the
Cooperative. These members represent
720 member businesses. This number
was 885 in 2011, 90 member businesses of which sold their products via the
Coforta Verkoop B.V. sales organisation.
Of these 90 member businesses, 81
cancelled their membership on 1
January 2012. The Cooperative is taking
on an increasingly international character due to foreign growers joining as
members, and Dutch members starting
production abroad. Coöperatie Coforta
welcomes grower initiatives for
expanding outside the Netherlands
and facilitates members as needed.

Members’ Council
and Management Board
The Members’ Council met three times
in 2012; the Management Board met
once a month. Among other topics, the
following matters were discussed
during the meetings:
• The 2011 financial statements
• The structure and working method
of the Cooperative
• New cooperation model
• The draft strategic plan for
The Greenery until the end of 2016
• GMO Annual Plan
• Articles of Association and regulations
• Annual plan and 2013 budget
• Tariffs and levies 2013
• Grower satisfaction survey
• Visits to grower meetings and to
The Greenery business units, including Greenery North America and
Greenery Russia.

The Cooperative organises various
member activities to promote member
involvement, such as product meetings,
the Coforta Day and the Green Academy.
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3. Corporate Governance
APPOINTMENTS

YOUTH COUNCIL

During the Members’ Council meeting
in March, Messrs Van Asseldonk and
Feijtel were reappointed as board
members of the Cooperative and
Mr Van Noord was elected as a new
Cooperative board member, making
the Management Board complete
once again. Messrs Van der Harg
and Schwering joined the Disputes
Committee.

Coöperatie Coforta members aged
under 33 can make their voice heard
through the Youth Council. The Youth
Council gives its view on the developments within the company and the
Cooperative, and also serves as a
breeding ground for management
talent. It may issue solicited and
unsolicited advice on any policy issues
concerning the Cooperative or the
company. The Youth Council represents
the interests and fosters the involvement of young business people within
the Cooperative.

Green Academy
The Cooperative held multiple seminars
for its members in 2012. Under the title
of ‘Green Academy’, it organises
meetings aimed at sharing knowledge
and promoting mutual discussion. The
following topics were discussed with
expert staff both from The Greenery
and externally in 2012: sustainable
innovation, logistics, the power of the
Cooperative and what can/cannot be
achieved by GMO.

A number of meetings were organised
in 2012 in which the following topics
were discussed: the structure and
working method of the Cooperative,
the German market, internet sales,
and international membership.

Visit to the distribution centre
During one of the Green Academy sessions, a group of Coforta growers visited
the distribution centre of one of our major retail customers. Broccoli grower
Maarten Botman: ‘There was a lot to see and discuss with the customer. I had
the impression that there was some agreement with one of our standpoints, i.e.
that only cost price plus a little extra can provide us with a reasonable living.’

This section provides an explanation of the management and supervisory
structure of the two legal entities. Coöperatie Coforta U.A. conducts its
activities in a subsidiary company with limited liability under the name
The Greenery B.V.

STRUCTURAL CHANGES TO
THE COOPERATIVE IN 2012
Until the end of 2012, the 1,175
members of the Cooperative had been
divided into four regional departments.
In 2012, the Members’ Council of the
Cooperative decided to alter the
structure of the Cooperative. The
division of members into regional
departments has been dispensed with;
consequently the four departments
and their boards were decommissioned
on 21 December 2012. This structural
change was made official by means
of an amendment to the Articles of
Association. Prior to the termination
of the regional departments, the
Members’ Council of the Cooperative
consisted of the divisional board
members. Since the amendment to the
Articles of Association, representatives
on the Members’ Council have been
elected by the members.

MEMBERS’ COUNCIL
OF THE COOPERATIVE
The Members’ Council met three times
in 2012. The Council handles matters
such as appointing members to the

Cooperative’s Management Board,
granting the Management Board
discharge from liability in respect of the
performance of its duties, and amendments to the Cooperative’s Articles of
Association and regulations. It also sets
the tariffs and levies, and adopts the
Cooperative’s annual financial statements. Additionally, the Management
Board consults with the Members’
Council prior to taking any decisions
on the financial statements, the
strategic business plan or the budget
of The Greenery. It is compulsory for
the Management Board to follow the
Council’s resolution concerning the
adoption/rejection of the financial
statements or approval of the
strategic plans.

product groups. It is responsible for
serving the interests of the Cooperative’s
members, and for the business conducted by the Cooperative in the form of
The Greenery and its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT BOARD
OF THE COOPERATIVE

The Cooperative has issued depositary
receipts for cumulative Class B preference shares without the cooperation of
The Greenery. The Cooperative serves
as a trust office for these depositary
receipts. The Cooperative’s Management Board also acts as the trust

The Members’ Council appoints the
Cooperative’s Management Board, which
had six members at the close of 2012
– all members of the Cooperative. The
composition of the Management Board
reflects the best possible mix of representatives from the Cooperative’s
membership based on regions and

GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE GREENERY
The company has issued Class A shares
and cumulative Class B preference
shares. All Class A and B shares are held
by the Cooperative, which means that
the Cooperative has complete control at
the General Meeting of Shareholders of
The Greenery. During a General Meeting
of Shareholders, the Management
Board of the Cooperative exercises the
voting rights attached to the shares on
behalf of the Cooperative.
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Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

100% owner

Members
The Greenery B.V.
Members’ Council
office’s Management Board. Each year
prior to The Greenery’s annual meeting, acting in its capacity as trust office
the Cooperative convenes a meeting
of depositary receipt holders. During
this meeting, the Management Board
informs and questions the receipt
holders on the decisions that must
be taken concerning the adoption of
The Greenery’s financial statements
and profit appropriation. In addition,
the trust office renders account of its
conduct during the financial year.

Articles of Association, the General
Management is appointed by the
Supervisory Board for an indefinite
period of time. The Supervisory Board
determines the remuneration and other
terms of employment for the General
Management members in accordance
with the remuneration policy approved
by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Under the Articles of Association the
General Management, which at the
close of 2012 comprised a general
manager and a financial manager, is
responsible for managing The Greenery.
This includes formulating strategy and
policy, as well as defining and achieving
The Greenery’s objectives. General
Management is accountable to the
Supervisory Board and to the General
Meeting of Shareholders. Under the

Management Board
Supervisory Board

General Management

At year-end 2012, the Supervisory
Board comprised nine members. These
are the members of the Cooperative’s
Management Board and three Supervisory Board members who are not
members of the Cooperative. The
Greenery’s Articles of Association
incorporate derogation from law of the
Supervisory Board appointments
procedure for two-tier board companies
(the Supervisory Board is appointed by
co-optation). A covenant has been

The Greenery
trading company

Subsidiary companies

SUPERVISORY BOARD
OF THE GREENERY

The Supervisory Board supervises the
policy pursued by the General ManageIn the company’s General Meeting,
ment as well as the general developmatters handled include the adoption
ments in The Greenery and its busiof The Greenery’s financial statements
nesses. The Greenery is subject to a
and granting The Greenery’s managestatutory two-tier regime, which means
ment discharge from liability in respect
that the Supervisory Board has been
of the performance
accorded the powers
of its duties. Furtherspecified in Book 2,
The Supervisory Board has
more, General
Title 5, Part 6 of the
established a Selection and
Meeting approval is
Dutch Civil Code,
Audit Committee from among
required for certain
including the appointits members.
resolutions adopted
ment of General
by The Greenery’s General ManageManagement and the approval of
ment as described in the company’s
General Management resolutions
Articles of Association, for example
defined by law. Furthermore, certain
the adoption of the strategic business
General Management resolutions
plan and budget plan.
defined in the Articles of Association
require prior Supervisory Board approval.

GENERAL MANAGEMENT
OF THE GREENERY

General Meeting
of Shareholders

Hoogsteder Groente en Fruit
Hollander Barendrecht
Jager Holland

Product Units

Mulder Onions

Sales Units

Naturelle
Van Dijk Foods Belgium

Top Fruit

Benelux

Wagenaar

Imported products

Discount

Mushrooms

Germany & Northern Europe

Field produce

Russia & Central Europe

Vegetable fruits

UK & Overseas

Soft fruit

Southern Europe

concluded with the Works Council
containing agreements on the composition of the Supervisory Board, the
recommendation rights of the Works
Council and the appointment of
members of the Supervisory Board.
The Supervisory Board has established
a Selection and an Audit Committee
from among its members.

ADMINISTRATIVE BODIES
The Management Board
of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
Th.L.J. Ammerlaan, Chairman
P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk, Vice-chairman
B.J. Feijtel
A.W.G.M. Hop

T.W. van Noord (effective 27 March 2012)
P.S.C. Oostveen
Supervisory Board
The Greenery B.V.
P.J.J.M. Swinkels, Chairman
Th.L.J. Ammerlaan, Vice-chairman
P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk
G.J. Beijer (until 28 March 2012)
M. Bello (effective 28 March 2012)
B.J. Feijtel
A.W.G.M. Hop
P.S.C. Oostveen
T.W. van Noord (effective 28 March 2012)
A. Vos
Hoofddirectie The Greenery B.V.
Ph.R.J. Smits, General Manager

A.W. Knol, Finance Director
B. Merkus, Commercial Director
(9 January - 28 August 2012)
On 1 January 2013, the Management
and Supervision (Public and Private
Companies) Act (Wet Toezicht en Bestuur)
came into force. As a result, as of this
date provisions apply concerning the
balance between men and women
occupying positions in company
Management and Supervisory Boards.
The Greenery’s policy is to aim to
comply with legislation and regulations.
During future Management and
Supervisory Board appointments it will
therefore strive to achieve as even a
balance as possible.
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4. Report of the
Supervisory Board
The Greenery works every day with its growers, staff, customers and
suppliers to provide consumers all over the world with natural, healthy
and ultra-fresh vegetables, fruit and mushrooms.

The Supervisory Board has read
The Greenery’s 2012 Annual Report,
including the financial statements
consisting of the balance sheet as
at 31 December 2012, the profit and
loss account for the 2012 financial
year and the relevant notes. The 2012
financial statements were initially
discussed by the Supervisory Board’s
audit committee, and subsequently by
the full Supervisory Board along with
the Management Board and the
accountant, Deloitte Accountants B.V.
With due observance of the report
issued by Deloitte Accountants and
the unqualified audit report issued, the
Supervisory Board members signed the
statements to indicate their agreement
therewith. The Supervisory Board also
granted its approval to the account
appropriation proposal presented by
General Management.
The financial statements were submitted to the General Meeting of Share-

holders for consideration and adoption.
The Supervisory Board proposed that
the General Meeting of Shareholders
adopt the financial statements, agree
to the intended account appropriation
and grant General Management
discharge from liability in respect of
the policy conducted over the financial
year as well as the Supervisory Board
for the supervision it has carried out in
this regard.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY
BOARD AND OTHER COMMITTEES
At year-end 2012, the Supervisory
Board comprised nine members. The
Chairman of the Supervisory Board is
Mr P.J.J.M. Swinkels. Mr Th.L.J. Ammerlaan, Chairman of the Board of the
Cooperative, is Vice-chairman of the
Supervisory Board.
On 28 March 2012, Mr G.J. Beijer
resigned from the Supervisory Board.
The Council is extremely thankful to
Mr Beijer for his efforts and contributions made during his time on the board.
On 28 March 2012, Ms M. Bello and
Mr T.W. van Noord were appointed to
the Supervisory Board. On that same

date, Messrs P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk and
B.J. Feijtel were both reappointed for a
new four-year term. The board has two
committees: the Audit Committee and
the Selection Committee.
In 2012 the Supervisory Board Audit
Committee comprised Messrs A. Vos
(Chairman), P.J.J.M. Swinkels, Th.L.J.
Ammerlaan and P.S.C. Oostveen.
In the year under review, the Supervisory Board Selection Committee
comprised Messrs G.J. Beijer (until 28
March; Chairman), P.J.J.M. Swinkels,
Th.L.J. Ammerlaan, P.W.J.M. van
Asseldonk and Ms M. Bello (effective
28 March 2012; Chair).

SUPERVISION AND CONSULTATION
The Supervisory Board met on seven
occasions in the 2012 financial year.
During these meetings, the commercial
developments and financial results
of The Greenery were important topics
of discussion. Extensive talks were held
on the measures intended to ensure
improvements to The Greenery’s
results. Attention was also devoted

to topics such as the effects of the
group of growers who left the Cooperative late in 2011, the termination of the
Commercial Director’s employment
contract, risk management, the strategy
up until 2016, the SAP project and the
structure of The Greenery’s upper
management.
The Audit Committee met three times
in the year under review in order to
prepare for decision-making on the
part of the Supervisory Board with
regard to The Greenery’s Annual
Report, the 2011 financial statements
and the 2013 budget (among other
things). Preparations were made for
the 2012 audit, and the Audit Committee also discussed the management
letter (including compliance with the
points made therein), the audit plan,
accounting manual and the company’s
liquidity position. Wherever necessary
and/or useful, matters were dealt with
in the presence of Deloitte Accountants.
The Selection Committee met four
times over the course of the financial
year. The Chairman of the Supervisory

Board is due to step down in 2013 and
cannot be reappointed. Last year the
Selection Committee therefore commenced recruitment and selection
activities to find a new Chairman of
the Supervisory Board. In addition to
the regular annual topics such as bonus
objectives and performance of the
board and General Management, the
distribution of tasks among the members of the General Management was
also discussed in detail.
The Supervisory Board would like to
thank the General Management, the
Management and all The Greenery’s
employees for their dedication and
efforts throughout the review year.
Barendrecht, 6 March 2013
Supervisory Board
The Greenery B.V.
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2. Consolidated profit and loss account 2012

1. Consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2012 (before appropriation of result)
Assets

Note

2012

2011
Net turnover

Fixed assets

Note

2012

2011

7.1

1,397,462

1,608,942

Intangible fixed assets

6.1

26,054

16,669

Cost of sales and subcontracted work		

1,200,045

1,408,675

Tangible fixed assets

6.2

265,280

255,483

Wages and salaries		

76,729

75,871

Financial fixed assets

6.3

		

46,193

49,143

Social security charges		

11,646

11,440

337,257

321,295

Pension and early retirement costs		

7,426

9,367

Current assets
Inventories

6.4

14,564

14,039

Receivables and prepayments and accrued income

6.5

138,705

152,466

2,404

8,039

Cash at bank and in hand		

Depreciation of intangible and tangible fixed assets

7.2

22,979

22,003

Other operation expenses

7.3

80,318

85,579

1,399,143

1,612,935

Total operating expenses		

			

		

155,673

174,544

Operating result		

Total assets		

493,200

495,839

				

Financial income and expense
		
Equity and liabilities
Group equity

Note

2012

2011

6.6		

Share of the legal entity in the group		
Third-party share in group equity		
		

87,654

87,730

(100)

(93)

87,554

87,637

7.4

Result on ordinary activities before taxation 		

(1,681)

(3,993)

(6,331)

(6,463)

(8,012)

(10,456)

				
Taxation on result of ordinary activities

7.6

Share in result of non-consolidated associated companies

7.5

Consolidated result after taxation		

(445)

3,000

9,862

9,429

1,405

1,973

			

Product funds

6.8

5,845

6,068

Provisions

6.9

74,450

79,224

Third-party share		

				

Long-term liabilities

6.10

80,702

77,338

Current liabilities

6.11

244,649

245,572

		

405,646

408,202

Total equity and liabilities		

493,200

495,839

6.7

201,386

206,615

Capital base as a percentage of total assets		

40.8%

41.7%

Capital base

amounts in thousands of euros

Total result of the legal entity		

7
1,412

(69)
1,904

amounts in thousands of euros
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3. Consolidated cash flow statement
2012

4. Statement of changes in equity
of the legal entity over 2012

		2012		2011

		

2012

2011

Operating activities 				

Total result of the legal entity		

1,412

1,904

Operating result

(1,681)		

(3,993)

			

Depreciation

22,979		

22,003

Revaluation financial fixed assets 		

(1,234)

59

Impairment of tangible fixed assets

(5,298)		

(5,339)

Revaluation tangible fixed assets		

(366)

437

Movement in provisions

(3,616)		

945

Translation differences foreign associated companies		

520

135

Movement in members’ loans

(3,200)		

0

Total result of the legal entity		

332

2,535

Movement in working capital

22,694		

(12,583)

Cash flow from business operations		

31,878		

1,033

Interest (paid or) received		

(2,074)		

(3,807)

Corporate income tax (paid or) received		

2,923		

1,559

Cash flow from operating activities		

32,727		

(1,215)

					
Investment activities					
Investments in intangible fixed assets
Investments in tangible fixed assets
Disposals of tangible fixed assets
Loans granted
Receipts form loans granted
Dividends received
Acquisitions and disposals of companies

(3,952)		

0

(14,381) 		

(25,413)

8,655		

14,725

0		

(833)

45		

35

3,084		

675

(2,568)		

(257)

Cash flow from investment activities		

(9,117)		

(11,068)

Cash flow from operating and investment activities		

23,610		

(12,283)

					
Financing activities					
Movement in bank loans and other loans

(18,860)		

28,719

Movement in members’ loans and liquidity levy

(6,083)		

(7,358)

Movement in product funds

(2,372)		

(2,901)

(408)		

(378)

Repurchase of depositary receipts

Cash flow from financing activities		

(27,723)		

18,082

		
Net cash flow		

(4,113)		

5,799

on movements in cash at bank and in hand		

(1,522)		

(315)

Movement in cash at bank and in hand		

(5,635)		

5,484

Exchange rate and translation differences

amounts in thousands of euros

amounts in thousands of euros
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5. Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Coöperatie Coforta U.A. was incorporated on 25 October 1996

Mergers and acquisitions

and has its registered office in The Hague, the Netherlands. It is

Acquisition Goeie Peer B.V.
and New Sensations B.V.
On January, 17th 2012 the company
acquired 100% of the shares in Goeie
Peer B.V. As a result of this acquisition,
the company secured the rights of
the pear type Red Doyenne van Doorn
and the license of the pear type UTA.
In addition, the trademark rights for
Sweet Sensation, Sweet Dored and
Dazzling Gold were obtained. The
purchase price for this acquisition
amounted to EUR 2,55 million. The
conditional earn out obligation (in
revenue terms) amounts to EUR 3,9
million.
On March 26th 2012 the company
acquired 100% of the shares of New
Sensations B.V. With this acquisition
the exclusive licenses for Netherlands,
France and the southern hemisphere of
the above pear types where obtained.
The purchase price amounted to 18
thousand euros.

the sole shareholder of The Greenery B.V.
Amounts included in the notes are amounts in thousands of
euros, unless stated otherwise.

Principal activities
The Cooperative holds the entire
share capital of The Greenery B.V.
The Greenery is a leading, international
company engaged in obtaining a full
range of fruit, vegetables and mushrooms from around the world and
supplying these fresh every day to
its customers throughout the year.
Its customers are mainly wholesalers
and supermarket chains in Europe and
North America. The company also
supplies caterers and industry. The
Greenery B.V. has branches in twelve
countries and its policy and approach
focus on market orientation, food
safety, sustainability, innovation and
logistics efficiency.

Changes in
accounting policies
Because of the mandatory change from
IAS19 to IAS19R the company has
decided that with effect from January
first, 2012, the valuation of the pension
provisions has been subject to change.
The valuation in accordance with
International Accounting Standard 19
(IAS 19) has been changed to valuation
in accordance with Dutch Guidelines for
Annual Reporting, Guideline 271 (RJ
271), Employee Benefits, Section 3.
This change has been made to provide
insight into the actual charges and be
less dependent on fluctuating market
interest rates The change in accounting
policy is recognized as an increase in
equity of EUR 12,8 million as per 1
January 2012. The comparative figures
have been adjusted accordingly for
comparison purposes at the end of 2011.

Acquisition Northbank
Growers Limited
On January 20th 2012 the company
acquired 100% of the shares in John
Baarda Limited (later renamed to
Northbank Growers Limited). The
acquisition price for this acquisition
amounted to GBP 11.6 million and
consisted mainly of an existing loan

provided by Greenery UK Ltd to North
Bank Growers and take over of a loan
convertibel into shares from a bank for
GBP 5,52 million.This acquisition
resulted in a goodwill of GBP 3.2
million.
Acquisition PTLA Holding
Participacoes LTDA
The 49% interest in PTLA Holdings
which was acquired in 2011 was
finalised in 2012. By securing this
interest the company has now acquired
a mango production and export
company in Brazil. The company has
full control over PTLA and also the full
economic ownership. The fair value of
the acquired assets and liabilities
amounted to EUR 8,1 million and has
resulted in a nil goodwill amount.

Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements
of the Cooperative include the financial data of the group companies that
the Cooperative controls. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies of the Cooperative.
The financial data of the Cooperative
is included in the consolidated financial statements and, in accordance
with Section 402 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code, the company profit

and loss account has therefore been
drawn up in an abridged format.
Financial information relating to the
group companies and the other legal
entities and companies included in
the consolidation is fully included in
te consolidated financial statements,
eliminating the intercompany relationships and transactions. Third-party
shares in equity and results of group
companies are disclosed separately in
the consolidated financial statements.
The results of newly acquired group
companies and other legal entities
and companies included in the
consolidation are consolidated from
the acquisition date. The results of
participations sold during the year
are recognised until the moment
of disposal.
A list of the names and registered
offices of group companies and
non-consolidated participating interests has been filed at the Chamber of
Commerce in Rotterdam. An abridged
list of group companies is included on
page 38.
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General accounting
principles for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements
The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with
the provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code.
Unless presented otherwise, the
financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost
convention. Assets and liabilities are
carried at face value, unless presented
otherwise at the relevant principle
for the specific balance sheet item.

The Cooperative’s policy is to limit risks
to an acceptable level where possible,
including managing credit, liquidity and
cash flow risks. Much of the credit risk
is insured with a credit insurer. Foreign
exchange positions are largely covered
by forward exchange transactions.
Some foreign exchange positions are
also hedged using option contracts.
Interest-rate derivatives are used to
hedge interest risks.
Hedging instruments at cost
Financial instruments that serve to
hedge risks and whose underlying
securities are not publicly listed, or for
which no hedge accounting is applied,
are stated at current value. Revaluation
results stated at fair value at the
balance sheet date are taken directly
to the profit and loss account.

Income and expenses are allocated to
the year to which they relate. Profit is
only included when realized on the
balance sheet date. Losses originating
before the end of the financial year are
taken into account if
they have become
The Cooperative’s policy is to
known before
limit risks to an acceptable
preparation of the
level where possible, including
financial statements.
managing credit, liquidity and

cash flow risks.
Financial
instruments
Financial instruments refer to both
primary financial instruments such
as debtors and liabilities as well as
financial derivatives. For the principles
of primary financial instruments,
reference is made to the treatment
per balance sheet item.

The Cooperative
applies hedge accounting based on individual
documentation for
financial instruments
having a specific
individual hedge
relationship. Generic documentation is
applied to financial instruments having
a non-specific hedge relationship. The
Cooperative records the way in which
the hedge relations suit the goals of the
risk management, the hedge strategy
and the expectation in respect of the
hedge’s effectiveness.

General information on cost
hedge accountingn
The effective part of financial derivatives that have been allocated for cost
price hedge accounting is valued at cost
and the ineffective part is valued at fair
value. The fair value changes on the
ineffective part are directly recognised
in the profit and loss account.
Cost hedge accounting for hedging
monetary, foreign currency balance
sheet items
The foreign currency components of
both the hedged balance sheet items
and the currency forward contracts that
act as hedge instrument, are recognised
at the rate as at balance sheet date.
Cost hedge accounting for hedging
foreign currency futures transactions
The foreign currency component of
forward contracts that act as hedge
instrument for hedging future transactions is valued at cost as long as
the hedged position has not yet been
recognised in the balance sheet.
Unrealised losses on financial instruments that do not serve to hedge risks
or are intended to hedge future cash
flows are recognised directly in the
profit and loss account.

Translation of
foreign currency
Receivables, liabilities and obligations
denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates

prevailing at the balance sheet date.
The exchange differences resulting from
translation as of balance sheet date are
recorded in the balance sheet and the
profit and loss account, taking into
account possible hedge transactions.
Transactions in foreign currencies during
the period under review are recognised
at the exchange rates prevailing at
transaction date.
Foreign group companies and nonconsolidated participations outside
the eurozone qualify as carrying on of
business operations in a foreign country,
with a functional currency different
from that of the company. The financial
statements of the foreign entities are
translated at the exchange rate at the
balance sheet date for items in the
balance sheet and at the average rate
for items in the profit and loss account.
The translation differences that arise
are directly deducted from or added to
group equity.

Principles of valuation
of assets and liabilities
Intangible fixed assets
Since 1999, goodwill arising on the
purchase of shares and the acquisition
of business activities has been capitalised. Assets, provisions and liabilities at
the date of acquisition are stated at fair
value. The goodwill created is carried at
the amount of the costs incurred, less
accumulated amortisation and, if
applicable, less impairments in value.
Amortisation is based on the expected
useful life (20 years). An impairment
analysis is carried out in the event of
any indications that could lead to
possible readjustment of the valuation
of the capitalised goodwill.
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Intangible fixed assets other than
goodwill, such as the cost of licenses,
concessions and prepayments, are
carried at the amount of the costs
incurred, less accumulated amortisation
and, if applicable, less impairments in
value. Amortisation is based on the
expected useful life (20 years).

Tangible fixed assets
Buildings and land
Land and buildings are carried at
current value. Land and buildings which
are held strategic are carried at replacement value. Land and buildings
held with the intention of being sold in
the foreseeable future and not replaced
are carried at estimated realisable
value. EU grants received are deducted
from this value.
Replacement value and realisable
value, which are based on appraisals
carried out by external experts,
are updated on the basis of market
information, specific index figures
and market data for each location.
Impairments in value in the financial
year are taken to the revaluation

reserve, net of deferred taxes. Depreciation of buildings is based on the
estimated useful life of the building
and calculated as a fixed percentage
of cost. Land is not depreciated.

to the provisions, in the amount of the
remaining share in the losses incurred
by the participating interest or of the
expected payments to be made by the
company on behalf of these participating interests.

Other tangible
This net asset value is
Amounts receivable
fixed assets
based in accordance with
from, and loans to
Other tangible fixed
the Cooperative’s accounting
participating interests
assets are carried at
principles.
and other debtors
the cost of acquisition
are carried at face value, net of any
or production, net of straight-line
allowances considered necessary.
depreciation determined for each
Securities included in financial fixed
category of assets based on their
assets are carried at market value
estimated useful lives, taking into
at the balance sheet date.
account any residual value. Depreciation
is provided form the date an asset
Inventories
comes into use. EU grants received
Inventories are valued at the lower of
are deducted from this value.
cost and market value, net of provisions
for obsolescence where necessary.
Financial fixed assets
Stocks of reusable packaging are valued
Where no decisive influence is exercised
at the refundable amount, unless held
on commercial and financial policy
on consignment.
participations are valued under the
net asset value method. Participations
Receivables
with a negative net asset value are
Receivables are valued at face value,
valued at nil. This net asset value is
less any provision for doubtful accounts.
based in accordance with the CooperaThese provisions are determined by
tive’s accounting principles. Where the
individual assessment of the receivables.
company has either wholly or partially
guaranteed debts payable by the
Cash at bank and in hand
relevant participating interest, a proviThe cash at bank and in hand is
sion has been formed which is primarily
measured at face value and is at
charged to receivables from this
the company’s free disposal.
participating interest and the remainder

Product funds
Product funds consist of levies raised
on growers. Product funds are valued
at face value and may only be used to
defray the cost of commercial activities
such as promotions, product research
and care systems, after consultation
with growers’ representatives.
Provisions
Pension provisions
With effect from January 1, 2012 a
change in accounting policy is applied.
The pension provisions are valued in
accordance with Dutch Guidelines for
Annual reporting, Guideline 271 (RJ 271),
Employee Benefits, Section 3 (RJ 271.3).
The Cooperative and its subsidiaries
have various pension plans. No provision
is formed under RJ 271, Employee
Benefits, for the industry-wide pension
fund of Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds
voor de Agrarische en Voedselvoorzieningshandel, Pensioenfonds Vervoer
or the Defined Contribution Plan. The
pension plan managed by Stichting
Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de Agrarische
en Voedselvoorzieningshandel and
Pensioenfonds Vervoer is a defined
contributions plan. According to RJ 271,
contributions paid into a defined
contributions plan are valued according
to the ‘valuation to pension fund

approach’. This approach accounts for
the contribution payable to the pension
provider as an expense in the profit and
loss account.
Defined contribution pension plans:
Liabilities with respect to contributions
to defined contribution pensions and
related plans are recognised as an
expense in the profit and loss account
in the period to which they relate.
Defined benefit pension plans:
According to RJ 271.3, contributions
paid to a pension provider are recognised as an expense in the profit and
loss account in the period to which
they relate. Based on the administration agreement it is assessed whether
and, if so, which obligations exist in
addition to the payment of the annual
contribution due to the pension
provider as at balance sheet date.
These additional obligations, including
any obligation from recovery plans of
the pension provider, lead to expenses
for the company and are included in a
provision on the balance sheet. With
final salary pension plans an obligation
(provision) for (upcoming) past service
is included if future salary increases
have already been defined as at
balance sheet date.
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Other long-term employee compensation:
The liability for other deferred employee
compensation (early retirement and
long-service awards) is calculated in
the same way as for defined-benefit
pension entitlements.

for which on balance sheet date a plan
is formalized, but only after the balance
sheet date either the justified expectation is aroused that the reorganization
will be carried out, or the plan has been
launched, no provision is recognized.

Deferred tax liabilities
A provision has been formed for
taxation payable in the future, due
to timing differences between the
valuation of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting and the valuation
for taxation purposes. The provision
is measured at its non-discounted
value on the basis of the ruling tax
rate, with the exception of land in use
by the company on a long-term basis,
to which a rate of 20% applies.

Other provisions
The other provisions are measured
at the face value of the expenditures
that are expected to be necessary for
settling the related obligations, which
equals the non-discounted value.

Provision for restructuring
This provision relates to costs associated
with restructuring of activities and is
recognized when the group has a legal
or constructive obligation. Restructuring

Principles for the
determination of the result
Net turnover
Net turnover represents amounts
invoiced for the supply of goods and
services to third parties, net of VAT
and discounts. Operating government
grants are included in the profit and
loss account in the year to which the
subsidized expenses are charged.
Expenses
Expenses are determined in accordance
with the above accounting policies and
allocated to the reporting year to which
they relate.

Taxation
Corporate income tax is calculated
at the applicable rate on the result for
the financial year, taking into account
permanent differences between profit
calculated according to the financial
statements and profit calculated for
taxation purposes. Deferred tax assets
are only valued insofar as their realisation is likely.
Share in result of non-consolidated
associated companies
The Cooperative’s share in the results of
non-consolidated associated companies
is recognised where no decisive influence is exercised over participations’
commercial and financial policy.

Principles for preparation
of the consolidated cash
flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared
according to the indirect method. In
general, the cash flow statement
reflects the movements in the consolidated balance sheet. In case of acquisition or sale of participations the acquired
net asset value, less cash at bank in

hand, and increased by any goodwill
paid, is recognised separately as cash
flow from investment activities.
Exchange rate movements are eliminated from balance sheet movements,
as they do not represent cash flows.
Balance sheet changes that relate to
exchange rates are not presented in
the cash flow statement, since such
changes do not result in exchange of
cash and cash equivalents. Partly as a
result of the above two items, the cash
flow statement is not always directly
traceable to the movements in the
related balance sheet items.
Cash flows in foreign currencies are
translated at an estimated average
rate. Exchange rate differences concerning finances are shown separately
in the cash flow statement. Corporate
income taxes and interests are presented under the cash flow from operating
activities. Dividends received are
presented under the cash flow from
investing activities.

Packaging for

top fruit
has moved to

regional packing stations

in the Netherlands
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6. Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

16,669		

Goodwill paid
Other reversals in value

18,464

3,953		

0

68		

67

Amortisations

(2,024)		 (1,862)

Net book value as of December 31

18,666		

16,669

Machinery and equipment

			
Accumulated cost
Accumulated amortisations and other impairments

40,758		

36,806

(22,092)		

(20,137)

18,666		

16,669

Net book value as of December 31

Buildings and land

The amount presented under goodwill paid relates to the acquisition of the shares in Norhtbank Growers Ltd.

211,156

18,069

2,474

(4,866)

(800)

1,330

(9,492)

2,743

220,614

0-3

31,065

2,195

4,123

(3,467)

0

1,421

(6,757)

1,892

30,472

10

Depreciation percentages

Net book value as of January 1

Other reversals

			

Depreciation

2011

Transfers

2012		

Goodwill

Revaluation

0
16,669

Disposals

7,388		
26,054		

Investments

Other Intangible fixed assets
Net book value as of December 31

Included in consolidation

2011

18,666		 16,669

Net book value at January 1, 2012

2012		
Goodwill

Net book value at December 31, 2012

6.2 Tangible fixed assets

6.1 Intangible fixed assets

Vehicles

7,692

182

788

(301)

0

(664)

(2,666)

666

5,697

20

Other fixed assets

3,278

(137)

1,564

(21)

0

43

(1,727)

307

3,307

20-33

Tangible fixed assets on order
Totaal

2,292

0

5,008

0

0

(2,130)

0

20

5,190

255,483

20,309

13,957

(8,655)

(800)

0

(20,642)

5,628

265,280

The release of EU grants received is recognised as other reversals.
Other Intangible fixed assets

2012		

2011

			
Net book value as of January 1

0		

0

Acquisitions

7,701		

0

Amortisations

(313)		

0

Net book value as of December 31

7,388		

0

			
Accumulated cost

7,701		

0

Accumulated amortisations and other impairments

(313)		

0

Net book value as of December 31

7,388		

0

The impairments in value during 2012 did result in revaluation of EUR 0.8 million.
The additions of EUR 14.0 million (2011: EUR 22.5 million) are stated net of EU
grants of EUR 4.0 million (2011: EUR 12.5 million).
The book value as at 31.12.12 includes EUR 26.4 million relating to capital expenditure at the cultivation companies of members of the Cooperative of which EUR 4.9
million was invested in 2012. The release of EU grants received is recognised as
other reversals.

In January 2012, the enterprise acquired the shares of the companies New Sensations B.V. and Goeie Peer
B.V. that hold the plant breeder’s right for the pear variety Rode Doyenne van Doorn, as well as the licence for
the pear variety Uta. At the acquisition a contingent earn-out (related to income) is agreed, for which under
the other provisions the related contingent liability is recognised.
amounts in thousands of euros
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Cost, accumulated revaluation, accumulated depreciation and net book values as of December 31,
2012 is as follows:

6.3 Financial fixed assets
		2012

2011
37,686

Other receivables		

1,731

11,457

Total		46,193

49,143

242,412

99,689

(121,487)

220,614

Machinery and equipment			

58,297

0

(27,825)

30,472

Vehicles			

23,992

0

(18,295)

5,697

Other receivables			

Other fixed assets			

20,074

0

(16,767)

3,307

			
Net book value as of January 1		

Fixed assets on order 			
Total			

Accumulated revaluation

Buildings and land			

Purchase cost

Net book value as at 31 December 2012

44,462

Accumulated depreciation

Non-consolidated participations		

5,190

0

0

5,190

349,965

99,689

(184,374)

265,280

The accumulated unrealised revaluation at 31 December 2012 amounted to EUR 99,689 (2011: EUR 104,795),
net of deferred taxes. The movement in the accumulated unrealised revaluation is as follows:

			
Non-consolidated participations		
2012

2011

			
Net asset value as of January 1		

37,686

28,675

Acquisitions		0

257

Share in result of associated companies		

9,862

9,429

Associated company dividends 		

(3,084)

(675)

Other movements		

(2)

0

Net asset value as of December 31		

44,462

37,686

11,457

11,469

Acquisitions		87

0

Loans granted		

1,500

0

Movements in advances		

0

302

Redemptions		(45)

(35)

Exchange rate differences		

0

239

Other movements		

(11,268)

(518)

Net book value as of December 31		

1,731

11,457

The amount presented under other receivables is as other movement accounted for the effect
of the inclusion in the consolidation of North Bank Growers and PTLA.
		2012
Net book value as of January 1		

2011

104,795

106,507

Amortisations		(794)

(794)

Disposals		(3,512)

(918)

Revaluation		(800)

0

Net book value as of December 31		

99,689

104,795

amounts in thousands of euros

amounts in thousands of euros
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6.8 Product funds

6.4 Inventories

2012		2011

2012		

2011

Packaging

7,872		

8,056

Net book value as of January 1

Goods for resale

6,692		

5,983

Withdrawals

Total

14,564		

14,039

Additions charged to the result
Interest

6.5 Receivables and prepayments and accrued income

Net book value as of December 31

2012		
Trade debtors
EU grants
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
Total receivables and prepayments and accrued income

117,347		

2011
110,778

2,117		

8,737

10,007		

18,035

9,234		

14,916

138,705		

152,466

6,068		

7,083

(2,372)		(2,901)
2,099		

1,772

50		114
5,845		

6,068

The product funds are short-term and subordinated. The rate of interest is based on one-month
EURIBOR plus a mark-up of 0.5%.

6.9 Provisions
The provisions are as follows:
2012		2011

6.6 Group equity

Pension provision

29,746		

31,323

Deferred tax liabilities

23,759		

24,975

Please see note 10.2 to the company balance sheet on page 37 for a detailed note on the share of the legal

Other provisions

20,945		

22,926

entity in the group equity.

Net book value as of December 31

74,450		

79,224

6.7 Breakdown of capital base
2012		
Share of the legal entity

2011

87,654		

87,730

5,845		

6,068

Provision for deferred taxation

23,759		

24,975

Members’ loans

55,280		

59,982

Product funds

Pension provision (RJ271)
Total capital base

28,848		

27,860

201,386		

206,615

			
The total pension provision (Guideline 271.3) is EUR 29,546 (2011, Guideline 19: EUR 46,710, after change
of accounting policy EUR 29,538). Of this amount, EUR 698 (2011: EUR 1,678) has been made to current and
former employees. The remaining amount of EUR 28,848 (2011: EUR 45,032, after change of accounting
policy EUR 29,538) is a contingent liability to pension providers and therefore this portion is included in the
capital base.

amounts in thousands of euros

amounts in thousands of euros

32

Book value as at 1 January 2012

Total

Other Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

liabilaties and other provisions is as follows:

Pension provision

The movement in the item provision for deferred tax

48,495

20,645

22,926

92,066

(17,172)

4,330

0

(12,842)

Book value as at 1 January 2012 after change

31,323

24,975

22,926

79,224

Withdrawals

(1,296)

0

(6,844)

(8,140)

449

0

3,221

3,670

(1,768)

0

(2,258)

(4,026)

Change in accounting policy

Allocations charged to the result
Release added to the result
Other movements
Book value as at 31 December 2012

Other movements in deferred taxation
are mainly due to the limitation on
depreciation of property for tax
purposes as a result of legislative
changes. Other movements in the
other provisions are due to the contingent earn-out (related to income) of
Goeie Peer B.V..
Net pension provision
The group contributes to a number of
defined benefit plans in the Netherlands
and the UK. The defined benefit
pension is based largely on average
salary and partly on final salary.

1,038

(1,216)

3,900

3,722

29,746

23,759

20,945

74,450

Indexation of accrued and current
entitlements is generally conditional.
The calculations take no account of the
expected conditional indexation. The UK
pension plan can be compared to how
the Dutch pension plan has been
designed and functions. The pension
obligations of both the Dutch and UK
plans are valued according to the
‘valuation to pension fund approach’.
The other countries have defined
contribution plans.
Other provisions
The deferred taxation provision relates

chiefly to the revaluation of intangible
fixed assets and the provision under
RJ271.3 (2011: IAS 19).
The other provisions are for various
risks, including the results of legal claims
and tax matters. A provision has also
been formed for costs arising from
commitments for the redevelopment
of current sites and reorganisation
costs. Of the total provisions as at 31
December 2012, some EUR 14 million
(2011: EUR 11 million) will be settled
within one year and some EUR 38
million (2011: EUR 41 million) after
five years.

6.10 Long-term liabilities
		2012

2011

Mandatory members’ loans		

55,280

59,982

Amounts due to associated company		

8,000

0

Other loans		

17,422

17,356

Total		80,702

77,338

Mandatory and voluntary members’ loans
Mandatory members’ loans are based
on the liquidity levy, which is calculated
in proportion to the value of the goods
supplied. At the end of the year, the
levy is converted into a mandatory
members’ loan with a term of eight
years and one day, with a starting date
of December 31 and an expiry date
of January 1. The net amount of the
long-term members’ loans is EUR 55.3
million (2011: EUR 60.0 million).
The interest on these members’ loans
is added to the principal amount unless
a request for payment of the interest is
received by March 31.
The rate of interest on the mandatory
loans is set each year. In 2012, the rates
on the various loans ranged from 2.25%
to 5.70%.
There were also voluntary members’
loans totalling EUR 12.2 million (2011:
EUR 11.4 million) as at December 31,
2012 bearing interest rates between
1.50% and 2.50%.
The mandatory members’ loans totalling EUR 7.2 million expire on January 1,
2013. Interest on these loans was paid
at a rate of between 4.20% and 5.70%
in 2012. Members’ loans which are
repayable within 12 months plus the

accrued interest are included in the
current liabilities. The portion of these
members’ loans due after five years is
EUR 22.7 million (2011: EUR 28.6
million). The interest accrued and
payable on the mandatory and voluntary members’ loans is recognized as
subordinated capital as at December
31 of the financial year. The members’
loans are subordinated to the bank
loans.
Other loans
These are loans granted mostly by
members of the Cooperative to finance
capital expenditure by The Greenery
B.V. on their behalf. The loans bear
interest at rates between 0.091% and
1.937%, depending on the commencement date and term. The amount due
after five years is EUR 17.3 million
(2011: EUR 17.0 million).
Furthermore, a loan agreement was
concluded in January 2012 with a
non-consolidated participating interest,
Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V. A two-year loan of EUR
8.0 million was provided to The Greenery
B.V., effective 1 January 2012. This loan
is subject to an interest-rate percentage
of 12 months Euribor plus a mark-up of
2.5%.

amounts in thousands of euros
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Information on financial
instruments
At 31 December 2012 The Greenery
B.V. owns interest swaps with a
nominal value of EUR 50 million. These
interest swaps mature as of 1 January
2017. They relate to long-term financing and are used to hedge risks in
interest positions. The costs associated
with interest swaps are amortised over
the term of the underlying contracts.
The fair value as at 31 December 2012
was EUR 2.8 million negative.
Forward currency contracts have been
concluded to hedge currency risks
arising on debtor positions in foreign

currencies. Option contracts have also
been concluded to hedge currency risks
arising from future deliveries to specific
customers, involving outstanding
options with a total value at financial
year end of GBP 23.8 million maturing
on 27 December 2013.
The total contract value of the outstanding positions as at 31 December 2012
maturing within one year amounted to
some EUR 36.6 million (2011: EUR 44.8
million). The estimated fair value of the
forward currency contracts at the
balance sheet date is approximately EUR
1.2 million higher than the book value.
All contracts mature within one year.

Security
The following security has been provided for the long and short-term liabilities from credit institutions:
•

first mortgage on property, viz. three distribution centres

•

pledge of debtors

•

pledge of rights under credit insurance policy

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees and securities
Capital expenditure commitments
Lease and rental obligations
Other commitments
Total

2012		

2011

23,439		

29,388

395		

361

11,044		

9,209

3,869		

7,498

38,747		46,465

Guarantees and securities consist primarily of guarantees for EU grants.
The amount recognised for capital expenditure commitments relates to movable property
and totals EUR 0.4 million (2011: EUR 0.4 million).
Lease and rental obligations can be broken down as follows:
•

Payable in 2013:

EUR 5,251

•

Payable in 2014 to 2017:

EUR 5,793

6.11 Current liabilities
		2012

2011

37,560

64,486

Banks and credit institutions		
Accounts payable		

86,104

56,055

Amounts due to growers		

13,709

16,325

Current portion of mandatory members’ loans		

7,514

10,152

Voluntary members’ loans		

12,207

11,397

Taxes and social security charges		

4,597

4,965

Pension liabilities		

2,163

2,345

Other liabilities		

61,963

60,170

Accruals and deferred income		

18,832

19,677

Total 		

244,649

245,572

When acquiring Northbank Growers Ltd a discount on a claim was received of total GBP 1.0 million, which has
been deducted from the purchase price. In the event of disposal of the company prior to 1 July 2013 the
obligation to repay this discount arises.

Related party transactions
In 2012 The Greenery concluded transactions with the non-consolidated subsidiary Europool System B.V.,
Hessing B.V. and Inova Fruit B.V. These transactions were conducted on arm’s length terms.
Among the long-term liabilities a loan received from a non-consolidated subsidiary, Houdstermaatschappij
Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V., is recognised. This loan is interest bearing at arm’s length terms.

amounts in thousands of euros
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7. Notes to the consolidated
profit and loss account

7.2 Depreciation

2012		2011
Tangible fixed assets			

7.1 Total operating income
Geographic spread

			
2012		

2011

(9,492)		

(9,339)

Machinery and equipments

(6,757)		

(6,084)

Vehicles

(2,666)		 (2,742)

635,508		

Germany

212,019		210,428

Other fixed assets

United Kingdom

159,256		

185,137

Total

Rest of Europe

293,896		

321,776

96,783		

89,228

Total

802,373

Buildings and land
The Netherlands

Rest of the world

(continuation)

(1,727)		

(1,976)

(20,642)		(20,141)

1,397,462		1,608,942

Breakdown by category			

7.3 Other operating expenses

			
Fruit and vegetables
Provision of services and other income
Total

1,308,925		

1,518,412

88,537		

90,530

1,397,462		1,608,942

Fees for the activities of the external auditor and the audit firm charged against the result for the financial
year are included in other operating expenses for a sum of EUR 570,000 (2011: EUR 707,000). This amount
is broken down as follows:

Provision of services and other income
This income includes logistics services, transport, rental and other operating income that includes

(20,141)

Intangible fixed assets			
			
Goodwill
Other intangible fixed assets
Total

(2,024)		 (1,862)
(313)		

0

Audit of the financial statements
Other audit engagements
Other non-audit engagements
Total

280

65

345

140

0

140

223

0

223

85

0

85

104

0

104

505

65

570

637

70

707

2011 total

(20,642)		

(22,979)		(22,003)

Other Deloitte networks

Total

(1,862)

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

Tangible fixed assets

2011

(2,337)		

2012 total

2012		
Intangible fixed assets

Other Deloitte networks

7.2 Depreciation

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

an amount of EUR 7.5 million (2011: EUR 12.5 million) relating to EU grants.

310

70

380

(2,337)		 (1,862)
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8. Company balance sheet as of 31 December 2012

7.4 Financial income and expenses
2012		
Financial income

503		

780

Financial expenses

(6,834)		

7,243

Totaal

(6,331)		

(6,463)

Financial income and expenses mainly relate to interest income and expenses. The balance of interest paid
to and interest received from related parties is EUR 333.000 (2011: nil).

Note

2012

2011

Fixed assets
Financial fixed assets				
Group Company

10.1

95,109

94,777

95,109

94,777

Current assets				

This item represents the profits and losses of non-consolidated participating interests.

EU grants receivable		

2,117

8,737

Total assets		

97,226

103,514

2012

2011

Liabilities

7.6 Taxation on result of ordinary activities

Equity

Note

10.2			

Revaluation reserve		

The corporate income tax has been calculated as follows:
Gross profit		Corporate income tax
			
Permanent differences

Assets

		

7.5 Share in result of non-consolidated associated companies

Profit before taxes 2012

(before appropriation of result)

2011

25,0%

(8,012)		

(2,003)

1,454		

364

			
Application local, nominal rates on foreign participating interests 			

2,410

Corrections of prior year tax income			

(326)

Taxation according to the profit & loss account			

445

The permanent differences mostly concern non-deductible amortisation of goodwill. The Greenery B.V.

78,076

81,671

Other statutory reserves 		

42,185

34,629

General reserve		

(34,019)

(30,474)

Profit for the financial year		
		

1,412

1,904

87,654

87,730

Long-term liabilities			
Group company

10.3

5,870

5,462

Current liabilities			
Group company		

3,702

10,322

		

9,572

15,784

Total liabilities		
97,226
103,514

and most of its wholly-owned Dutch subsidiaries are members of a fiscal unit. As it was last year, the net
available tax loss at consolidated companies is nil.

9. Company profit and loss account for
2012

7.7 Workforce
Number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) employed at year-end

2012		

2011

549		

577

Board/MT/office
Logistic servicess

1,106		

Transport and other
Total

166		
1,821		

759

		

2012

2011

171

Contributions and other income		

1,087

941

1,507

Other expenses		

(608)

(556)

Financial income and expenses		

(479)

(385)

The average number of FTEs with permanent employment contracts during 2012 was 1,884 (2011: 1,585).

Company result after taxation		

0

0

The average number of temporary staff in FTEs was 857 (2011: 884).

Profit from participating interests after taxation		

1,412

1,904

Company profit		

1,412

1,904

The increase in FTEs in permanent employment is attributable to the acquisition of the companies North Bank
Growers and PTLA, with a total of 395 FTEs at year-end.
amounts in thousands of euros

amounts in thousands of euros
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10. Notes to the financial statements

As at 1 January 2012			

34,629

(43,316)

1,904

0

0

12,842

0

12,842

As at 1 January 2012 after change			

81,671

34,629

(30,474)

1,904

87,730

Revaluation			

Profit for previous and
current financial years

834

81,671

34,629

(98,365)

1,904

81,935

0

0

0

12,842

0

12,842

74,888

Change in accounting policy			

Repurchase of depositary receipts			

The movements in the shareholders’ equity of The Greenery B.V. were as follows:

Total

Result previous financial year

shareholders’ equity.

The Cooperative owns the entire share
capital of The Greenery B.V., consisting
of 281,000 Class A shares and 259,000
cumulative Class B preference shares.
The Cooperative has issued depositary
receipts for Class B shares to its members, of which some 6% were purchased
during 2012. During 2011 over 5% were
repurchased and over 70% were
repurchased during 2008.

0

0

(408)

0

(408)

(366)

258

(1,492)

0

(1,600)

Realised revaluation on Disposals and depreciation			

(3,229)

0

3,229

0

0

Dividends received			

0

(3,084)

3,084

0

0

Prior-year profit appropriation 			

0

0

1,904

(1,904)

0

Addition to reserve for participating interests 			

0

9,862

(9,862)

0

0

0

0

0

1,412

1,412

0

520

0

0

520

As at 31 December 2012			

78,076

42,185

(34,019)

1,412

87,654

81,671

34,629

(85,523)

1,904

94,777

0

(366)

258

(1,492)

0

(1,600)

Realised revaluation
on depreciation

0

0

(3,229)

0

3,229

0

0

Dividends received

0

0

0

(3,084)

3,084

0

0

As at 1 January 2012					

35,567

(938)

34,629

Prior-year profit appropriation

0

0

0

0

1,904

(1,904)

0

Revaluation					(3,084)

0

(3,084)

Addition to reserve for participating interests

0

0

0

9,862

(9,862)

0

0

Addition to reserve for participating interests					

9,862

0

9,862

Profit for the financial year

0

0

0

0

0

1,412

1,412

Revaluation of participation					

258

0

258

Change in accounting policy
As at 1 January 2012 after change

Exchange losses and other movements
As at 31 December 2012

Other statutory reserves
In addition to the reserve for participating interests, the other reserves
required by law include the reserve for
exchange gains and losses. The movements in that reserve were as follows:

Other statutory reserves

834

0

As at 1 January 2012

Total

61,262

Revaluation

Reserve for exchange
gains and losses

Profit for the financial year			
Exchange losses and other movements			

Reserve for participating interests

Revaluation reserve

General reserve

the revaluation reserve is taken to

0

Share premium

Other statutory reserves

carried at current value. Realisation of

10.1 Financial fixed assets

61,262

Share capital

81,671

in the value of tangible fixed assets

General reserve

Participating interests are carried at net
asset value. The result of participating
interests represents the company’s
share in the profit or loss for the
financial year of the company concerned
from the time it became part of the
group or from the moment of acquisition.

The revaluation reserve is for changes

Revaluation reserve

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with
the provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code. The accounting
policies applied in the company
financial statements are the same
as those applied in the consolidated
financial statements. Please see the
notes to the consolidated financial
statements for these accounting
policies.

10.2 Equity

The company profit and loss account
has been drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of Section 402 of Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code.

Other statutory reserves

General

0

0

0

520

0

0

520

Exchange gains and losses					

0

520

520

61,262

834

78,076

42,185

(88,660)

1,412

95,109

As at 31 December 2012					

42,603

(418)

42,185
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11.	List of participating interests
Activa	Toelichting

10.3 Long-term liabilities
To finance the repurchase of depositary
receipts, a company belonging to the
group of The Greenery B.V. supplied a
loan of EUR 5.9 million (2011: EUR 5.5
million) at a profit-related interest rate
of 8%. The loan was issued for an
indefinite period from 1 January 2009.

2012

2011

Remuneration of
the members of the Board
and Supervisory Board

As at 31 December 2012 participating interests included the companies listed below. A full list of participating

The total charge to the Cooperative for
the remuneration of Board members
for 2012 was EUR 188 (2011: EUR 171).

Consolidated participating interest

Subsequent events
In March 2013 the company reached
an agreement with the management
of Jager Holland B.V. and exploitatiemaatschappij Jager B.V. to acquire all
the shares in these B.V.’s.

interests has been filed at the Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam.
Registered office

Share in capital (%)

The Hague

100

Barendrecht

100

De Lier

100

Greenery Belgium N.V.

St. Katelijne Waver (B)

100

Hagé International B.V.

Barendrecht

100

The Greenery B.V.
Hollander Barendrecht B.V.
Disselkoen Airfreight B.V.

Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit B.V.
Greenery UK Ltd.
Greenery España S.A.
Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V.

The Hague, 6 March 2013

J.H. Wagenaar GmbH
J.H. Wagenaar B.V.

The Management Board
of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
T.L.J. Ammerlaan, Chairman
P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk, Vice Chairman
Ir. B.J. Feijtel
A.W.G.M. Hop
T.W. van Noord (from 27 March 2012)
P.S.C.Oostveen

Exploitatiemaatschappij Jager B.V.
Jager Holland B.V.
Greenery Italia Srl.
Greenery Vastgoed B.V.
Handelsmaatschappij Jover B.V.
Mulder Onions B.V.
Greenery Produce B.V.
Greenery Poland Sp. z.o.o.
PTLA Holding Participacões LTDA

Utrecht

100

Huntingdon (UK)

100

Carlet Valencia (E)

100

Delft

100

Kempen (D)

100

Zwaagdijk

100

Nieuweschans

100

Nieuw Amsterdam

100

Verona (I)

100

The Hague

100

Nieuwegein

100

Bleiswijk

100

Maasland

100

Warsaw (PL)

100

Beberibe (BR)

491

Zoetermeer

78.572

Geldermalsen

40

Langedijk

45

Non-consolidated participating interests
Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V.
Inova Fruit B.V.
Hessing B.V.

		
1

Decisive control under Agreements

2

No decisive control under the Articles of Association
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12.	Other information
12.1 Articles of Association
provisions governing profit
appropriation
Under Article 52 of the Articles of
Association, the profit is appropriated
as follows:
Article 52
The Members’ Council shall decide the
appropriation of any profit based on a
Board proposal. If the Members’ Council
resolves to distribute all or a portion of
the profit, the agreed amount shall be
distributed to the members in proportion to their turnover in the most recent
financial year. Such distribution may be
made other than in cash, including in
securities, such as depositary receipts for
shares in the capital of The Greenery B.V.

12.2 Proposed profit
appropriation
The Board proposes to add the profit for
2012 of EUR 1,412 to the Cooperative’s
equity capital, subject to an addition to
the statutory reserve for participating
interests of EUR 9,862. This proposal
has not yet been incorporated into the
financial statements.

Auditor’s responsibility

12.3 Independent
auditor’s report
To: the Management Board
of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Report on the financial
statements
We have audited the accompanying
financial statements 2012 of Coöperatie
Coforta U.A., The Hague, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance
sheet as per December 31, 2012, the
consolidated and company profit and
loss account for the year then ended
and the notes, comprising a summary
of the accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of
these financial statements and for the
preparation of the General Management Report , both in accordance with
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
Furthermore management is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Dutch law,
including the Dutch Standards on
Auditing. This requires that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion with respect
to the financial statements
In our opinion, the financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Coöperatie Coforta U.A. as
per December 31, 2012 and of its result
for the year then ended in accordance
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code.

Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements
Pursuant to the legal requirement
under Section 2:393 sub 5 at e and
f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have
no deficiencies to report as a result of
our examination whether the General
Management Report, to the extent we
can assess, has been prepared in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of
this Code, and whether the information
as required under Section 2:392 sub 1
at b-h has been annexed. Further we
report that the General Management
Report, to the extent we can assess, is
consistent with the financial statements
as required by Section 2:391 sub 4 of
the Dutch Civil Code
Rotterdam, 6 maart 2013
Deloitte Accountants B.V.
drs. K.G. Auw Yang RA
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